IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-WC-00444-COA

JOSHUA LOWELL ODOM

APPELLANT

VERSUS

٠

•

٠

10

Contraction of the second

東にに

いた

مالية المراد

ie si

「日本の

No. 10

FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEMS, INC.

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

LEN MELVIN,

Attorney for Appellant Post Office Box 221 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-0221 Phone: (601) 583-1990 Fax: (601) 583-1995

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2009-WC-00444-COA

JOSHUA LOWELL ODOM

APPELLANT

VERSUS

. .

FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEMS, INC.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

No. SA

•

The Administrative Law Judge and the Commission erred when they determined that Joshua Lowell Odom had not suffered a compensable injury while working at FedEx. This determination was not supported by substantial evidence as the Claimant clearly met his burden of showing his back injury was work-related.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joshua Lowell Odom injured his back while working for FedEx as a part-time package handler in their Hattiesburg facility in December, 2003. Odom was diagnosed by Dr. Michael Molleston with a ruptured lumbar disc and severe left sciatica, for which he underwent surgery. FedEx paid no benefits. Odom has returned to work, and is currently employed full-time, with a restriction to lifting only 40-50 pounds. Odom seeks workers' compensation benefits, including medical bills, for his injury.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Joshua Lowell Odom ("Odom") filed a Petition to Controvert on January 18, 2005, alleging that he suffered a compensable back injury while employed part-time at FedEx in Hattiesburg as a package handler, with an average weekly wage ("AWW") of \$105.00. A hearing on the merits occurred in Hattiesburg on June 6, 2006, before Administrative Judge James Homer Best, who denied the claim and dismissed it by his order of September 26, 2006. Odom timely filed his Petition for Review before the Full Commission of the Mississippi Workers Compensation Commission on October 3, 2006, and the Commission affirmed the Order of the Administrative Law Judge on February 28, 2007. Odom Timely appealed the Order of the Commission to the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi, who affirmed the Commission's decision on March 6, 2009. Finally, Odom timely appealed the decision of the Forrest County Circuit Court to this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In December of 2003, Odom worked part-time at FedEx in Hattiesburg loading cargo while he attending Jones County Community College as a full time student. He worked at FedEx in that capacity for two (2) years and was described by the FedEx

14 - H- S

supervisor as a "good employee." Deposition of Traci Boone 1, p. 22. While working at FedEx during the second week of December, 2003, Odom suffered a back injury while lifting a box. Odom was initially treated by Dr. John Beamon for back pain the second week of December, 2003, and returned to Dr. Beamon on December 16, 2003, complaining of the same pain. Dr. Beamon recommended that Odom undergo a neurosurgical evaluation and referred him to Dr. Molleston. Exhibit 7. On December 18, 2003, Odom reported to the emergency room at Wesley Medical Center ("Wesley") in Hattiesburg complaining of back pain. Exhibit 6. He was treated and released after being scheduled for an MRI on December 22, 2003. *Id.* Odom returned to Wesley on December 20, 2003, complaining of the same back pain.

auth side

海北が

の語の

のななが

Before seeing Dr. Molleston, Odom did not report his injury as work related, because he mistakenly believed, that part-time employees were not entitled to workers' compensation benefits. Molleston, p. 25. Odom told Dr. Molleston that the injury had occurred approximately five weeks before his initial visit, January 6, 2004, at FedEx, when he was twisting and lifting a 35 pound package. Deposition of Dr. Molleston, p. 5.

On or about January 7, 2004 Dr. Molleston diagnosed Odom with a lumbar ruptured disc and severe left sciatica and performed lumbar surgery on or about January 26, 2004. Deposition of Dr. Molleston, p. 4-6. Odom was released to light duty in March, 2004 and to full duty in May, 2004. Molleston, p. 7-8 In June, 2006, Dr. Molleston permanently restricted Odom to lifting no more than 40-50 pounds. Molleston, p. 9-10. Dr. Molleston rated his permanent impairment at 16 % to the body as a whole. Molleston, p. 10.

Dr. Molleston testified that he noted that Odom had three bad discs, L3-4, L4-5,

and L5-S1, but that only L5-S1 was acutely ruptured. Molleston, pp. 15-16. Dr. Molleston testified that the nature of the L5-S1 injury being an acute rupture indicated that it was more likely traumatic rather than degenerative herniation due to desiccation, and that Odom had told Molleston that the injury was work-related. Molleston, pp. 21-3. Dr. Molleston concluded that without knowing anything about Odom's medical history, the acute rupture at L5-S1 would likely have occurred in a time frame between three weeks and three months before his initial consultation. Molleston, p. 23.

FedEx had no accident report relating to Odom's injury, although Odom signed a form prepared by his supervisor, William Thompson. The FedEx file lacked an accident report, and FedEx never directed Odom to a physician. Deposition of Traci Boone 2, pp. 17-20.

Traci Boone, the manager of the FedEx location in Hattiesburg where Odom worked, testified that Odom received a back injury at work:

A: When he hurt himself I think it was a Friday. I'm not for sure when, if it was the 13^{th} or the 14^{th} , but the outbound manager told me – he had called me that night and we were talking, and he told me that he had sent Josh home early.

And I asked him why. And he said he picked up a box and he said that his back just felt funny. So he let him go to get some rest.

Boone 1, p. 26.

And again:

「「「「「」」」

2

F.

あるの

Sec. Barrier

- Q: Who was the outbound manager?
- A: William Thompson at the time.
- Q: William Thompson?
- A: Right.

Q: Where is he now?

No.

No.

10.00

開回到

Surger State

200

٠

•

- A: He was in Phoenix, but--well, Tempe, Arizona, but he's no longer with the company.
- Q: Do you know where he's at?
- A: No, I don't.
- Q: Okay, But he was the outbound manager at the time?
- A: Right.
- Q: And he called you at home and told you--
- A: Right.
- Q: -- that-- okay, and told you that Josh had hurt his back picking up a package?
- A: Right.
- Q: Okay. And you don't remember Josh working anytime after that?
- A: No.
- Q: Okay. Did anybody tell you about Josh going to the emergency room?
- A: When it happened?
- Q: Yes, ma'am.
- A: No.
- Q: Or at any time?
- A: He went--not to the emergency room. He went to a doctor sometime after that. I mean, I don't remember.
- Q: For his back?
- A: Yeah.

- Q: Okay. Which doctor was it? Do you know?
- A: I don't -- I don't know.
- Q: How do you know he went to a doctor?
- A: That's what Will told me.
- Q: Okay. And he was the outbound manager?
- A: Right.
- Q: You're over him. Is that right?
- A: Correct.
- Q: So he keeps you up on those things?
- A: Right.

Boone 1, pp. 27-8.

Boone explained that William Thompson supervised Odom on that shift, and that she believed that Thompson, who is no longer employed at FedEx, had not filed an accident report, despite company policy requiring an accident report in the event of injury. Boone 1, pp. 29-30. However, Thompson did report to Boone that Odom had suffered a work-related injury. Boone 1, p. 48.

Odom stopped working at FedEx on December 14, 2003; Boone entered Odom's injury into FedEx's internal claim reporting system, called SCMS. Boone 1, pp. 36-38. According to FedEx policies and regulations, the accident files should have contained both a written accident report and an SCMS report. Boone 1, p. 38. Only Odom, Thompson, and Leonard were working on the night Odom suffered his injury, and Boone had no information regarding the whereabouts of Leonard and Thompson, both having left FedEx after Odom's injury. Boone 1, p. 54.

Boone later testified that she was unable to find an accident report in the accident/injury binder. Deposition of Traci Boone 2, pp. 4-5. She had contacted William Thompson, who could not remember whether he had filled out an accident report, but confirming that he had sent Odom home due to him suffering a back injury. Boone 2, pp. 10-12. By FedEx policy, there should have been documentation in the accident/injury binder, and there was not. Boone 2, pp. 8-10. FedEx's policies mandated that in the case of any workplace injury, there would be a notation in the accident/injury binder; if the employee went to the doctor, he would turn in any paperwork reflecting work restrictions, which would be noted on his attendance sheets; and finally, Boone or another manager would file a report in the SCMS system regarding the injury. Boone 2, pp. 17-20. There was no citation of Odom's injury in the accident/injury binder; there was no notation of the reason for his failure to return to work on his attendance sheets; and finally, there was no SCMS report. Id. Boone stated that if there was no accident report in the accident/injury binder, it would imply that the employee never complained of the injury; however, she had previously testified that William Thompson, a FedEx employee and Odom's immediate supervisor on the night of the injury, had called her and informed her that Odom had been sent home due to suffering a back injury. Boone 2, p. 25.

Boone testified that during the time she worked at the FedEx facility in Hattiesburg with Odom, he had been a good, hard-working employee. Boone 1, pp. 22-24. After being released by his doctor to return to work with his permanent restrictions, Odom obtained employment at a Ford dealership in Hattiesburg. FedEx has never paid Odom any benefits and has never provided him with medical services for his back injury.

11

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The administrative law judge ("ALJ") and the Commission erred as a matter of law when they concluded that Odom's injury was not work-related and was not compensable under the Act. The Commission is the ultimate finder of fact in a workers' compensation case; the opinions and findings of the administrative judge are considered advisory and not binding upon the Commission.

The ALJ reasoned that as Odom did not initially report to his doctors that the injuries he had suffered were work related, and because the question of the initial date of injury was not firmly established, that Odom had not suffered a compensable work-related injury. However, Odom's superior, Traci Boone, who was the manager, testified that he suffered an injury to his back at work.

Odom's inability to pinpoint the exact date of the injury is irrelevant. He saw Dr. Beamon for back problems the second week in December at just the point in time that Traci Boone, the supervisor, said he was sent home with a back injury. Odom did not report his injury as work-related to his physicians because he was under the mistaken impression that as a part-time FedEx employee he was not eligible for workers' compensation benefits, or they would not be provided.

The ALJ and the Commission ignored the statement of FedEx employee Boone that she thought Odom was injured on the job, instead focusing on the inconsistency of dates as to when the injury may have occurred. The fact and timing of Odom's injury, as well as its nature, strongly supports its compensability.

「「「「

A A

ARGUMENT

The ALJ and the Commission denied Odom's claim for failure to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his injury was work-related and thus compensable. This Court should overturn the decision of the ALJ and the Commission because it is not supported by substantial and credible evidence. Odom's injury was work-related, compensable, and award permanent partial disability benefits, as well as payments for reasonable and necessary medical treatment.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A decision of the Commission is subject to a limited standard of appellate review as the Commission is the ultimate fact-finder. Ameristar Casino-Vicksburg v. Rawls, 2So. 3d 675, 679 (Miss. 2008) cert, denied Feb. 19, 2009 (citing Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals. Inc., 853 So. 2d 776, 778 (Miss. 2003)). Its judgment will be reversed only if it lacked the support of substantial evidence, was arbitrary and capricious, or contained an error of law. Id. When the Commission accepts the ALJ's findings and conclusions, as here, those findings and conclusions are reviewed as though they were made by the Commission itself. Rawls, 2 So. 3d at 679 (citing McDowell v. Smith, 856 So. 2d 581, 585 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)). Although the appeal is procedurally made from the circuit court, for all practical purposes, this Court's review is a review of the Commission's order and not that of the circuit court. Rawls, 2 So. 3d at 680 (citing Delta CMI v. Speck, 586 So. 2d 768, 772-73 (Miss. 1991)). "A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is some slight evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the Commission in its findings of fact and in its application of the Act. J.R. Logging v. Halford, 765 So. 2d 580 (¶12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

Ser 14

「「「

From the very date of the injury, Appellant complained of a back injury, and the Appellees admitted the injury. Clearly the ALJ and the Commission erred when finding there was no compensable injury.

THE ALJ AND THE COMMISSION'S DETERMINATION THAT ODOM HAD NOT SUFFERED A COMPENSABLE INJURY WHILE WORKING AT FEDEX IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The administrative judge and the Commission based their findings of noncompensability largely on the disputed date of injury; the fact that Odom did not consistently claim his injury was work-related, and the absence of an accident report made to FedEx. Opinion of the Administrative Judge, pp. 11-12. However, in order to establish entitlement to workers' compensation benefits, the claimant must prove: (1) an accidental injury, (2) arising out of and in the course of employment, and (3) a causal connection between the injury and the claimed disability. Metalloy Corp. v. Gathings, 990 So. 2d 191, 195 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing Harrell v. Time Warner/Capitol Cablevision, 856 So. 2d 503 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)). Odom has indisputably met this burden. First, Odom demonstrated through Boone's testimony that he reported his back injury to his supervisor and was even sent home on the day it occurred. Second, Odom sought treatment for this injury within days after it occurred and continued to receive treatment for the same injury. Finally, Odom's treating physician, Dr. Molleston, causally connected the back injury to Odom's employment at FedEx. The findings of the ALJ, as adopted by the Commission, that Odom failed to meet the burden of proving that he suffered a compensable injury related to his work at FedEx is without substantial evidence and should be reversed.

1. The disputed date of injury

100

12.00

The pleadings, both in the petition to controvert, and in discovery, identify the date of injury as December 14, 2003. The administrative judge pointed out that Odom's payroll records show that his last date worked was December 12, 2003, and that FedEx's work week at the Hattiesburg facility was Monday through Saturday, while December 14, 2003, was a Sunday, when Odom could not possibly have been working. However, Boone testified that she received a phone call either on December 11 or December 12 from William Thompson indicating that he sent Odom home after Odom reported straining his back while working as a package handler. Boone could not remember the exact date either, but she conclusively placed Odom's injury as occurring on or about the end of the second week of December 2003.

The circumstances surrounding the workplace injury are clear and undisputed; Odom testified at the hearing before the AJ that he picked up a box and felt a sharp pain in his back. This corresponds with what Thompson told Boone concerning Odom's injury. The fact that Odom's pleadings identify the date of injury as December 14, 2003, is not dispositive of anything beyond at most a clerical error.

Indeed the testimony of the supervisor, Traci Boone, confirms the existence of a work-related injury:

- Q: Okay. You stated he was a good employee.
- A: Yes, he was.
- Q: Okay. And I think you said he's a friend in the way you've just described. Is that right?
- A: Right.

- Q: Okay. And he -- you heard from William Thompson that he hurt his back on December 14th of 2003 and that he was sent home early?
- A: Okay. Right.
- Q: Okay. And he never came back after that. Is that correct?

A: I don't think so.

Boone 1, p. 44.

Q: So a work-related injury was reported to you, though. Is that right?

A: Right.

- Q: On December 14th, 2003?
- A: Right.
- Q: By William Thompson. He called you at home?
- A: Right?

あるか

Boone 1, pp. 47-8.

There is no substantial evidence to support the conclusion made by the ALJ and the Commission that the Odom's injury was not work related when the employer's 30(b)(6) designee repeatedly declared that it was reported to her, and she passed it on as a work-related injury:

- Q: When William Thompson called you on December 14th of '03 and said that Josh Odom had hurt his back, that was in the scope -- that was in the scope of his employment, wasn't it?
- A: Yeah. When Will called me it wasn't to report the injury; he was calling me -- I mean, he called me every night with certain information, but it was later than normal. And I asked him what was going on, and he said he had to help Roger load -- finish unloading and load. And I asked him why, and he said, well, he let Josh go early because when he picked up a box he said he felt a -- felt a pulled muscle or something, and just -- it felt strange, so that's why he went home.

- Q: Okay. Do you know whether Josh had ever gone home early before?
- A: I can't remember.

•

•

- Q: But I think you stated he was a very good employee?
- A: I mean, he was a good employee.
- Q: He never came back to work after December 14th of '03, though, did he?
- A: I don't think so.

Boone 1, pp. 50-1.

- Q: Just a couple more questions, Ms. Boone. I think you've stated Mr. William Thompson told you that he had sent Josh Odom home early and Josh had hurt his back. Is that right?
- A: When Will called, I mean, the conversation was like, "What took you so long? You know, why you so late?"

"Well I had to help Broderick. I let Josh go. He said his back felt funny when he was loading them boxes" or something like that. It wasn't Josh hurt hisself and he had to, like, leave and a dire emergency. It was just it felt funny.

- Q: Okay. But you're aware that Josh -- you were aware Josh hurt his back?
- A: Went home. Right.
- Q: Okay. And left early?
- A: Right.

Boone 1, pp. 56-7.

- Q: Just a couple. Mr. Thompson did tell you that Josh was moving a box when he hurt his back, though. Is that right?
- A: Right.
- Q: Okay. And that was a box at FedEx, wasn't it?
- A: FedEx Ground, correct.

Boone 1, p. 66

- Q: Okay. But did you think it was a work-related injury and that's why you reported it to Elmer Ray?
- A: It was reported to Will and Will notified me, so my -- my chain of command is to tell the next person.
- Q: If he hadn't been in an accident and it hadn't been work-related you wouldn't have notified Elmer Ray, though, would you?
- A: No.
- Boone 1, p. 69.

Odom testified that he saw Dr. Beamon on the day of his injury or the day after, but that he could not clearly remember. Dr. Beamon's records state that Odom came to him on December 11, 2003, which was a Thursday. This coincides with Boone receiving a telephone call from Thompson on the day of Odom's injury, explaining that Thompson had sent Odom home due to back injury, which phone call, according to Boone's testimony, occurred on either the Thursday or Friday before Odom stopped working at FedEx. This would fix the date of injury as December 11, 2003.

There is no authority denying compensability because the date of the injury is disputed, when a workplace injury has occurred. Although FedEx did not follow its record keeping procedures, as discussed below, Boone admitted that Thompson sent Odom home for a workplace injury to his back on or about December 11, 2003; the other testimony adduced, whether from Dr. Beamon, Odom, or Dr. Molleston, places Odom's injury within a day or two of that injury, and there is no proof of any other intervening back injury.

2. Odom's conflicting reports regarding whether his injury was workrelated

18

The ALJ also placed great emphasis on Odom's various descriptions to his physicians as to whether his injury was work-related. Odom explained that he believed that FedEx would not pay for his injury because he was part-time, based on rumors from other employees. Further, Odom's mother filled out the intake forms at the hospital.

Dr. Molleston opined that while Odom's back showed signs of degenerative changes elsewhere in neighboring disc spaces, the acute rupture at L5-S1 was caused by trauma, and based upon the history provided, the injury had occurred approximately five weeks previous while Odom was working. No other doctor has contradicted the etiology of Odom's injury. Traci Boone disingenuously and half-heartedly attempts to depict the Claimant's injury as related to a skateboarding accident of July, 2003, some 5 or 6 months prior to the December incident but acknowledges that this was second-hand information, and further, that he worked up until the time in December when the manager informed her that Odom had hurt his back lifting a box. There is no doubt that Odom suffered a severe trauma in the second week of December, 2003, which necessitated surgery.

Further, Odom is the only witness to his injury that was available to testify before the Commission, the testimony of Boone relating the report of Odom's immediate supervisor on the day of the injury cannot be ignored, as the administrative judge did.

3. The missing accident report

10 A. 10 A. 10

2

Traci Boone, the senior manager at the FedEx Hattiesburg facility, testified at her first 30(b)(6) deposition that she could not find the accident file wherein accident reports were customarily and regularly kept. Boone 1, p. 16. Subsequently, Boone was unable to locate an accident report, any attendance sheets reflecting Odom's injury, or a report in the computerized SCMS system FedEx used to track injuries. Boone 2, pp. 17-20. Odom remembered signing an accident report at Thompson's request.

「中心」

The ALJ took the absence of the accident report and supporting documentation as conclusive evidence that there was no workplace injury. The ALJ noted that Thompson had reported to Boone that Odom suffered a workplace injury, and that he had sent Odom home. The ALJ also noted that FedEx had no accident reports, either written out by Thompson or in the SCMS system.

Under FedEx's policies, Odom was not responsible for filing an accident report, or filling out an SCMS report. Boone testified that in the event of a workplace injury, there would be an accident report and an SCMS report. She also admitted that Thompson had reported a workplace injury to her. When a party is responsible for the maintenance of records, the absence or loss of those records will create a rebuttable presumption that the records contain information unfavorable to that party. *Delaughter v. Lawrence County Hospital*, 601 So. 2d 818, 821-2. In this case, the AJ inexplicably construed the absence of these records against Odom, who had no responsibility for their creation or maintenance, and who stopped working for FedEx after December 12, 2003.

Boone could offer no explanation as to why there was no accident report, other than that a workplace injury had not in fact occurred. This directly contradicts her earlier testimony, where she confirmed that Thompson had sent Odom home for a workplace injury to his back. Additionally, Boone testified that she had filled out an SCMS report on Odom's injury after he failed to return to work. However, she could not locate this either.

Workers' compensation law favors a finding of compensability. *Reichold Chemical* v. *Sprankle*, 503 So. 2d 799, 802 (Miss. 1987). The ALJ found that the absence of injury reports in FedEx's records, records which, according to FedEx's 30(b)(6) designee should

8°1 **9** Summer Sec.

.

have reflected a workplace injury to Odom in the second week of December, 2003, supported a finding of non-compensability. The ALJ did not explain why FedEx's failure to follow procedures in reporting a workplace injury should be a strike against compensability.

CONCLUSION

The administrative judge and the Commission erred when they found that Joshua Lowell Odom had not suffered a compensable work-related injury while employed at FedEx in Hattiesburg during the second week of December, 2003. The administrative judge examined the evidence without an appreciation of the remedial focus of the Workers' Compensation Act; in particular, he took absence of evidence to stand for evidence of absence when FedEx failed to properly follow its internal procedures in recording Odom's workplace injury.

\$

In Mississippi, the absence of records normally kept in the due course of business creates a rebuttable presumption that those records contain information detrimental to the party responsible for their creation and care. FedEx offered no explanation for why they failed to keep proper records of Odom's workplace injury, from their failure to make a note in the accident/injury binder, to their sloth in maintaining the attendance binder, and the absence of an SCMS report designed to track all potential claims. Their sole explanation was that there was no workplace injury, even though the on-site FedEx manager, William Thompson, had called Traci Boone, the FedEx 30 (b)(6) representative, to inform her that he had sent Odom home due to him suffering a back injury while lifting a package on the loading dock, and she testified she reported the injury to her supervisor.

The purpose of the Act is remedial, and it presumes in favor of compensation, so long as the claimant meets his burden of proof. The facts are plain: Odom was working at FedEx as a part-time employee when he suffered an injury and was sent home by his supervisor. Neither his supervisor nor the Hattiesburg facility manager followed FedEx's internal protocols concerning accident reporting. Dr. Molleston treated Odom for an acutely ruptured disc at L5-S1, which he causally connected to Odom's workplace injury. Dr. Molleston rated Odom at a 16% permanent disability to the body as a whole.

The employer produced no witnesses' testimony, documents or contradictory evidence that no work-related injury occurred. Its attempt to avoid compensability consisted entirely of trying to muddy the waters by confusing the Claimant on a date that had occurred two (2) years previous.

The administrative law judge's findings are entirely at odds with the intent and purpose of the Act, which is remedial in nature. It should be enough to demonstrate compensability by the uncontradicted testimony of treating physicians, the admission of the FedEx facility manager, and the testimony of the claimant, without holding the claimant responsible for FedEx's inability to follow its own internal procedures.

This Court should consider all of the evidence and reverse the findings of the administrative law judge and the Commission, and award all appropriate benefits to Joshua Lowell Odom, including damages for future medical treatment and permanent partial disability benefits with penalties and interest.