IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-WC-00444-COA

JOSHUA LOWELL ODOM	APPELLANT
VS.	
FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEMS, INC. SELF-INSURED	APPELLEE
BRIEF OF APPELLEE FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEMS, INC. SELF-INSURED	
ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED	

SUBMITTED BY:

W. BIENVILLE SKIPPER - I
TARA S. CLIFFORD DANIEL COKER HORTON & BELL, P.A.
4400 OLD CANTON ROAD, SUITE 400
POST OFFICE BOX 1084
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39215-1084
TELEPHONE: (601) 969-7607
FACSIMILE: (601) 969-1116
Attorneys for Appellee

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-WC-00444-COA

JOSHUA LOWELL ODOM

APPELLANT

VS.

FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEMS, INC. SELF-INSURED

APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The employer and carrier submit the Commission's ruling is due to be affirmed, as it is supported by substantial evidence. The Commission received and reviewed all the evidence and determined the appropriate weight to give the testimony and each admitted exhibit. Odom's appeal seeks nothing more than to have this Court allot different weight to the testimony and evidence - focusing primarily on his own testimony while discounting the contradictory proof - but, as this Court is aware, an appeals court cannot re-weigh the evidence and render its own opinion of the testimony. Under the law, deference is given to the Commission, which issued its decision after its own independent review of the evidence. Even if the Order of the Full Commission is not the

opinion this Court would have rendered, the fact that the Commission's Order is supported by substantial evidence in the record necessitates it be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

FedEx asserts that the Order of the Full Commission is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed. It is well-settled in Mississippi law that an appeals court is not to substitute its judgment for the judgment of the trier of fact or factual questions. See *R. C. Petroleum v. Hernandez*, 555 So. 2d 1017 (Miss. 1990). When the Commission adopts the findings of the Administrative Judge without presenting its own findings of fact, a court must examine the findings of the Administrative Judge. *McDowell v. Smith*, 856 So. 2d 581, 585 (Miss. 2003). The Commission is also the ultimate judge of the credibility of witnesses. *Miller Transporters, Inc. v. Guthrie*, 554 So. 2d 917, 918 (Miss. 1989). The Court will reverse the Commission's Order only if it finds the Order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Hardaway Co. v. Bradley*, 887 So. 2d 793, 795 (Miss. 2004). The AJ relied on his observation of Odom's credibility and the unbiased medical records in denying Odom's claim, and the Commission, based on the substantial evidence, affirmed the AJ's decision. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Commission's Order.

ARGUMENT

This case centers around Odom's credibility and the simple fact that the evidence does not support his story of sustaining an injury at work. The AJ observed Odom and his demeanor, and the Order reflects the judge's observations and careful and thorough review of the medical evidence. As a result, the AJ correctly determined that Odom's version of events was not

supported by the preponderance of credible evidence and properly denied this claim. Thereafter, the Commission properly affirmed the AJ's decision, based on the substantial evidence before it.

A claimant must prove he suffered a work injury "beyond speculation and conjecture." Coleman v. Chattanooga Container, 377 So. 2d 606, 608 (Miss. 1979). Indeed, contradictions in the claimant's testimony and circumstantial evidence are sufficient to rebut testimony of a work injury. Id. Regarding the absence of contemporaneous corroboration of a work injury, the Supreme Court has found that, "when a patient gives a history to a physician, which is inconsistent with allegations in a workers' compensation case, this is a significant factor in support of denial of the claim." Raytheon Aerospace Support Services v. Miller, 861 So. 2d 330, 336 (Miss. 2003) (emphasis added), citing Hudson v. Keystone Seneca Wirecloth, 482 So. 2d 226, 227-28 (Miss. 1986). In Hudson, the Supreme Court recognized "that it is generally known that reasonable patients relate injuries that may have causal connection to a disability to their physicians." Hudson, 482 So. 2d at 227. The Court also observed that "[a] back injury is not ordinarily a condition in which the patient is taciturn. There is an inclination to sing its praises." Id. at 228.

None of the Odom's allegations are consistent with the evidence. Although Odom had listed December 14th as his date of injury throughout his pleadings, during his testimony he attempted to change his date of injury numerous times to avoid being trapped by his own medical records. Although he testified he told Dr. Beamon he suffered his injury at work, Dr. Beamon's records reflect no such history. Despite Odom's testimony he injured himself at work, the records from Wesley Medical Center reference an injury occurring at home six months before, while the triage note reflects Odom specifically marked the box stating his injury was <u>not</u> work-related. Further, Odom testified he told Dr. Molleston that he had been injured at work, but Dr.

Molleston's records reveal Odom marked "no" as to whether his injury was work related and reveal Odom provided a history of back pain for over a year with a prior referral to Dr. Patterson. To overcome the contradictions between his testimony and the medical evidence, Odom attempted to change his date of injury and blame his mother for telling his doctors he had been injured at home. Eventually, he simply claimed the doctors did not write down the history he provided them.

Odom attempts to deflect scrutiny from his own inconsistencies by trying to make some conspiracy argument over an allegedly "missing" accident report. Although he testified he told his supervisor, Will Thompson, about the work-related injury and subsequently completed a report evidencing such, no such report exists. Ms. Boone testified that the absence of such accident report would imply Odom did <u>not</u> report any work-related injury.

Contrary to Odom's assertions in his brief, Ms. Boone's testimony is in accordance with Miss.R. Evid. 803(7), in that the absence of such a business record is admissible proof that no such record exists. In response to the inescapable contradictions in his story, Odom's Brief simply states that the accident report he claims to have completed is "missing." This argument cannot disguise a fatal flaw in his proof. The only person who claims to know anything about an accident report is Odom. As Ms. Boone testified, every accident report at the FedEx location is accounted for – except the very one Odom alleges he completed, but no one else has ever seen. As Ms. Boone testified, the absence of such a business record is proof that no such record exists and that Odom never reported any work injury.

Notwithstanding Ms. Boone's testimony, Odom is still unable to explain how he could have been treated by a doctor one day <u>prior</u> to his alleged injury. Tr. at 24-26. Odom testified that he

sought treatment the day after his injury and never returned to work. Id. His timecard, however, shows his last day of work was December 12, 2003. Id. The medical records of Dr. Beamon clearly show that Odom sought treatment for back pain on December 11, 2003, one day <u>prior</u> to Odom's last day of work. Id. Odom's only explanation for this was that the records must be wrong. Id.

The Administrative Judge properly judged the weight and sufficiency of Odom's evidence and testimony and found that it did not suffice to overcome the absolute absence of any contemporaneous history of a work injury in the non-biased and independent medical records. Odom repeatedly contradicted himself in his testimony, and his demeanor was such that his version of events simply cannot be relied upon. Given the totality of the evidence, Odom simply did not prove a work-related injury by a preponderance of the evidence. Therefore, the Commission's decision is in accordance with the overwhelming evidence and mandates affirmance of the Order of the Full Commission.

CONCLUSION

As evidenced above, substantial evidence supports the conclusions found in the AJ's Order denying and dismissing this claim and the Commission's Order affirming such. In accordance with the deferential standard of review, the appellee submits the Order of the Full Commission should once again be affirmed.